5199435

No. S

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF DUKE

ROBERT B. RADIN and SEYMOUR RADIN

Petitioners and Respondents,

SUPREME COURT FILED

VS.

JAN 1 7 2012

JEWISH NATIONAL FUND and CITY OF HOPE,

Claimants and Appellants.

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clark

Jujul J

California Court of Appeal, Second District, Division Four 2nd Civil No. B227954
Appeal from the Los Angeles County Superior Court
Hon. Mitchell Beckloff, Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. BP108971

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUES PRESENTED

"Perhaps it is time for our Supreme Court to consider whether there are cases where deeds speak louder than words when evaluating an individual's testamentary intent." (Slip Opn., p. 13.) So wrote the Court of Appeal on the facts presented here.

Irving Duke's holographic will disinherited everyone but his wife, and provided that if he and his wife died simultaneously his estate would pass to City of Hope and Jewish National Fund. After his wife died, Irving told a City of Hope representative that he was "leaving his estate" to these charities. (Slip Opn., p. 3.) Though the will did not expressly say so, the Court of Appeal found it clear from extrinsic evidence that Irving meant for the charities to take if his wife died before him. But it felt bound to the four corners of the will under this Court's half-century-old decision in *Estate of Barnes* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 580, which bars consideration of extrinsic evidence in support of implied gifts. So, intestate succession rules applied, and Irving's estate went to the very heirs he had tried to disinherit.

Is *Barnes* at odds with the primary goal of effectuating testators' intent? Specifically:

- Should courts be able to consider extrinsic evidence in determining whether to construe a will as containing an implied gift?
- 2. Should courts be able to reform an unambiguous will, as the Restatement and leading scholars urge and as a growing minority of states have already recognized?

INTRODUCTION

California law regarding implied gifts is confused, conflicting and anachronistic.

Evidence can make it absolutely clear that a testator made a mistake in expressing his intent, either by omitting a beneficiary or failing to describe the conditions under which a beneficiary will inherit. But the law of implied gifts as it now exists bars courts from considering that evidence—courts can only look to the four corners of the will. This four corners rule is out of step with modern legal jurisprudence and scholarship as well as with the rules that California applies to interpret other writings. Alone among the potential subjects of written instruments in California, wills are slaves to written language at the expense of effectuating the author's true intent.

As a result, courts seeking to effectuate testators' clear intent have strained to find ambiguities on the slimmest of excuses. Some courts find them; others can't or won't. The predicament for the bench and bar is similar to what one court concluded about testator's oral declarations under prior law: "[I]t is impossible to determine when the testator's oral declarations would be deemed admissible in any given case [citation] because the courts, in an understandable effort to circumvent the harshness of the rule [excluding those declarations] have attempted to create multiple exceptions or, oftentimes, simply ignored its existence." (Estate of Kime (1983) 144 Cal.App.3d 246, 265 (Kime).)

In this environment—exacerbated by the present decision—lawyers cannot hope to provide dependable predictions of the potential outcome of

probate proceedings, and clients cannot hope to make wise decisions about whether to assert a position in those proceedings.

In the nearly 50 years since this Court last considered the admissibility of extrinsic evidence to imply a gift in a will—in *Estate of Barnes*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d 580, a short and enigmatic opinion with virtually no analysis on the point—California legislative policy, the courts of other states, and academic thought have significantly liberalized the interpretation of wills. Our Legislature discarded former Probate Code section 105, replacing it with the more liberal Probate Code section 21102. And the Restatement and leading scholars go beyond easing evidentiary restrictions on implied gifts: They urge allowing reformation of wills that unambiguously omit a bequest when it can be clearly shown that the testator intended it.

The Court of Appeal rightly questioned *Barnes*' continuing vitality. Regardless of whether *Barnes* correctly stated the law in 1965, extrinsic evidence of a testator's true intent should no longer be relegated to irrelevance when evaluating implied gifts. Rather, it should be admissible and persuasive. There is ample basis for making that the law, and this Court should grant review to do so.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Irving Duke Prepares A Holographic Will That Expressly
Disinherits All Heirs Besides His Wife And Names City Of
Hope And Jewish National Fund As The Sole Contingent
Beneficiaries.

In 1984, when he was 73 and his wife was 56 (see AA 109, 111), Irving Duke prepared a holographic will. It contained four key articles:

- "First—I hereby give, bequeath and devise all of [my] property
 ... to my beloved wife, Mrs. Beatrice Schecter Duke [address]."
- "Second—To my brother, Mr. Harry Duke, [address], I leave the sum of One Dollar (\$1.00) and no more."
- "Third—Should my wife Beatrice Schecter Duke and I die at the same moment, my estate is to be equally divided [¶] One-half is to be donated to the City of Hope in the name and loving memory of my sister, Mrs. Rose Duke Radin. [¶] One-half is to be donated to the Jewish National Fund to plant trees in Israel in the names and loving memory of my mother and father—Bessie and Isaac Duke."
- "Fourth—I have intentionally omitted all other persons, whether heirs or otherwise, who are not specifically mentioned herein, and I hereby specifically disinherit all persons whomsoever claiming to be, or who may lawfully be determined to be my heirs at law, except as otherwise mentioned in this Will. If any heir, devisee or legatee, or any other person or persons, shall either directly or indirectly, seek to invalidate this Will, or any part thereof, then

I hereby give and bequeath to such person or persons the sum of one dollar (\$1.00) and no more, in lieu of any other share or interest in my estate." (AA 121-123; Slip Opn., p. 2.)

B. After His Wife Dies, Irving Confirms His Intended
Charitable Testamentary Bequests, Making Three
\$100,000 Gifts To City Of Hope And Stating That He
Is "Leaving His Estate To City Of Hope And Jewish
National Fund."

Beatrice died in July 2002. (Slip Opn., p. 3.) In August 2003, Irving invited a City of Hope Senior Gift Planning Officer, Sherrie Vamos, to his apartment. (*Ibid.*; AA 167-168.) Consistent with his will's charitable bequest, Irving executed a "City of Hope Gift Annuity Agreement" and gave Vamos checks totaling \$100,000. (Slip Opn., p. 3; AA 172-174; see also AA 168.)

In early January 2004, Irving again invited Vamos to his apartment, executed a second City of Hope Charitable Gift Annuity Agreement and gave Vamos another \$100,000. (Slip Opn., p. 3; AA 168, 176-177.) He told Vamos he was "leaving his estate to City of Hope and to Jewish National Fund." (Slip Opn., pp. 3-4; AA 168.) It was Vamos' understanding from this conversation that Irving had already prepared a will that included gifts to City of Hope and Jewish National Fund (collectively the charities), not that he intended to do so in the future. (Slip Opn., p. 4.)

Later that month, Irving executed a third City of Hope Charitable Gift Annuity Agreement and provided a further \$100,000. (Slip Opn., p. 4; AA 168.)

C. Upon Irving's Death, An Heir Hunter Locates The Radins—Nephews With Whom Irving Had No Contact For Decades.

Irving died childless in November 2007. (Slip Opn., p. 3; AA 105 [¶ 5], 116, 164 [¶ 5].) A Los Angeles Deputy Public Administrator found Irving's will in Irving's safe deposit box at First Federal Bank. (Slip Opn., p. 3; AA 183.) While he left an estate valued at over \$5 million (Slip Opn., p. 3; AA 32, 72), Irving had lived like a pauper (AA 70).

Irving's sole surviving relatives were his nephews, Robert and Seymour Radin. (Slip Opn., p. 3; AA 134-146; see also, e.g., AA 106 [¶ 6], 164 [¶ 6].) Irving had no ongoing relationship with either, and neither assisted with his funeral and internment. (See AA 31, 70-71.)

Robert last spoke with Irving during the 1970s. (AA 18.) They never visited, even though they lived within walking distance. (AA 36.) Robert never met or spoke to Irving's wife, Beatrice. (AA 18, 20.) Robert only learned of Irving's death because an heir hunter found him. (AA 21.)

Seymour last saw Irving in 1965, and made no effort to contact him. (AA 71, 79.) In Seymour's view, Irving was evil. (AA 81.) Seymour did not know anyone in contact with Irving, and, like his brother only learned of Irving's death through an heir hunter. (AA 70-71.)

D. The Probate Court Enters Summary Judgment For The Radins, Finding That Irving's Will Results In A Complete Intestacy And The Estate Passes To The Very Relatives Irving Had Expressly Disinherited.

The charities—the only surviving beneficiaries named in Irving's holographic will—petitioned for probate. (Slip Opn., p. 3; AA 114-130; see also AA 1-2.)

The Radins countered with a Petition For Determination Of Entitlement To Estate Distribution. (Slip Opn., p. 3; AA 134-146.) While agreeing that Irving's will was valid, they argued that the charities could only take if Irving and Beatrice died "at the same moment," which did not occur. (AA 136-137.) Since Irving's will contained no other clauses controlling estate distribution, they argued that there was a complete intestacy and the estate must pass to them as his closest living relatives. (AA 137.)

The trial court granted summary judgment to the Radins, relying heavily on *Estate of Barnes*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d 580 (*Barnes*).

E. The Court Of Appeal Reluctantly Affirms In A Published Opinion.

In its published opinion, the Court of Appeal deemed *Barnes* controlling and indistinguishable because it too involved a will (though not holographic) that contained a bequest (though to a relative, not to charities) in the event of the simultaneous death of the testatrix and her spouse, but did not provide what would happen if the spouse predeceased the testatrix.

(Slip Opn., p. 8 ["In summary, we conclude that the *Barnes* decision is directly on point and controls our decision here"].)

According to the Court of Appeal, under *Barnes* "[w]e cannot engage in conjecture as to what the testator may have intended but failed to express in order to avoid a conclusion of intestacy. (*Barnes*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d at pp. 583-584.)" (Slip Opn., p. 8.) The court also believed that *Barnes* precluded it from considering relevant out-of-state authority. (*Ibid*. ["We decline, as we must, appellants' invitation to look to cases from other states in which courts construed wills similar to the one now before us as implying a testamentary intent not stated on the face of the will. (*Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455.)"].)

The court concluded: "[T]he question is whether extrinsic evidence should always be inadmissible when the language in a will is otherwise clear on its face. The *Barnes* court held the answer is 'yes.'" (Slip Opn., p. 12; see *id.* at p. 11 [reading Probate Code section 6111.5, allowing admission of extrinsic evidence in the event of ambiguity, as further supporting the exclusion of such evidence where issue is whether gift should be implied].)¹

¹ All California statutory citations are to the Probate Code.

But the court also made clear that it was not comfortable with the result that it felt *Barnes* compelled, because that result was at odds with Irving's evident intent:

We are mindful of the fact that the ultimate disposition of Irving's property, seemingly appropriate when strictly examining only the language of his will, does not appear to comport with his testamentary intent. It is clear that he meant to dispose of his estate through his bequests, first to his wife and, should she predecease him, then to the charities. It is difficult to imagine that after leaving specific gifts to the charities in the names and memories of beloved family members, Irving intended them to take effect only in the event that he and his wife died "at the same moment."

(Slip Opn., p. 12, italics added.)

The court further noted that while in *Barnes* this Court found that the extrinsic evidence "did not assist in interpreting the will," "that is not the case here, as there is evidence of Irving's intentions after the death of his wife." (Slip Opn., p. 12.) It called upon this Court to reexamine the law as embodied in *Barnes*:

Recognizing "that a will is to be construed according to the intention of the testator, and so as to avoid intestacy" ([Barnes] at p. 583), perhaps the rule regarding the admission of extrinsic evidence should be more flexible when a testator's conduct after an event that would otherwise cause his will to be ineffective brings into question whether the

written word comports with his intent. *Barnes* takes that option out of our hands. Perhaps it is time for our Supreme Court to consider whether there are cases where deeds speak louder than words when evaluating an individual's testamentary intent.

(*Id.* at pp. 12-13.)

WHY REVIEW IS NECESSARY

I.

CALIFORNIA LAW REGARDING IMPLIED TESTAMENTARY GIFTS IS CONFUSED AND CONFLICTING.

- A. Historical Overview: The Four Corners Rule As

 Judge-Made Law.
 - 1. The source of the four corners rule.

Implied gifts—that is, effectuating intended testamentary gifts that may be "imperfectly expressed" in a will—date back in California at least a century. This Court described the basic rule in *Brock v. Hall* (1949) 33 Cal.2d 885 (*Brock*):

The implication of gifts in wills rests upon the primary rule of construction that the duty of the court in all cases of interpretation is to ascertain the intention of the maker from the instrument read as a whole and to give effect thereto if possible, and it is well settled that, where the intention to make a gift clearly appears in a will, although perhaps imperfectly expressed, the court will raise a gift by implication.

(*Id.* at pp. 887-888, citing among others *Estate of Blake* (1910) 157 Cal. 448, 467-468 (*Blake*), disapproved on another point in *Estate of Stanford* (1957) 49 Cal.2d 120, 129; see *Blake*, *supra*, 157 Cal. at pp. 466-467 ["Bequests by implication have from remote times been sustained where no direct language in a will is found to support them but where from informal

language used such reasonable construction can be placed on it as implies an intention to make a bequest"].)

The key feature of the rule—which apparently drove the decision in *Barnes* and definitely drove the Court of Appeal's decision here—is that "the intention to make a gift [must] clearly appear[] from *the instrument taken by its four corners* and read as a whole" (*Brock, supra*, 33 Cal.2d at p. 889, italics added.) This rule limits courts to textual analysis; extrinsic evidence is forbidden. (Slip Opn., p. 12, citing *Barnes*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d at pp. 582-583.)

A concomitant of the four corners rule is that when courts find implied gifts, they are not construing ambiguities. Indeed, the whole point of implied gifts is that the will is *not* ambiguous, just imperfectly expressed—"no *direct* language in a will is found to support" the gift, but the overall tenor of the instrument does support it. (*Blake*, *supra*, 157 Cal. at p. 466, italics added.) To find an implied gift, courts have focused on whether the will's "dominant dispositive plan" supports the gift. (*Brock*, *supra*, 33 Cal.2d at p. 892 [implying gift in a trust].)

2. Barnes applied the four corners rule to bar extrinsic evidence of true testator intent.

Following the four corners rule, *Barnes* held that absent a textually apparent "dominant dispositive plan" there can be no implied gift. (See *Barnes*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d at p. 584.)

In *Barnes*, the testatrix's will bequeathed all her property to her husband. (*Id.* at p. 581.) It provided that if she and her husband died simultaneously or nearly so, her property would go to her nephew, whom

she named as an alternate executor to her husband. The will contained a disinheritance clause. (*Id.* at p. 581 and fn. 5.) But no provision addressed what would happen if the husband predeceased the testatrix, as he did. The trial court received evidence regarding the nephew's long and close relationship with the testatrix; found the will ambiguous; and construed it to include a bequest to the nephew. (*Id.* at p. 582.)

This Court reversed. It found no ambiguity in the will. Rather, it found that the will unambiguously did not address the circumstance where the testatrix's husband predeceased her. In *Barnes*' view, nothing in the extrinsic evidence regarding Henderson's relationship with the testatrix was relevant—"[t]he extrinsic testimony sheds no light on the intention of testatrix with respect to the situation which actually had come into existence by the death of testatrix' husband some five years before her own death."

(63 Cal.2d at pp. 582-583.) And, in one summary sentence, it also found no basis for implying a gift: "No such 'dominant dispositive plan' as referred to and held to warrant a gift by implication in [*Brock*], cited by petitioner, is demonstrated by the provisions of the will now before us." (*Id.* at p. 584.)²

² Barnes did not evaluate residual bequests to charities, much less ones named in honor of beloved relatives—the Barnes petitioner was the testatrix's nephew. Gifts to charity are liberally construed to accomplish the testators' charitable intent. (In re Estate of Tarrant (1951) 38 Cal.2d 42, 46.) Nor, since it did not involve a holographic will, did Barnes consider the rule that a will drawn by a layperson is liberally construed. (Estate of Karkeet (1961) 56 Cal.2d 277, 282 (Karkeet).)

3. If there ever was a statutory basis for the four corners rule, it no longer exists.

Although the four corners rule may once have had some statutory underpinning, as far as we can determine the rule exists today only by virtue of judicial decisions.

The rule seems to have its roots in the Statute of Wills and its descendants in California, particularly section 105 as it existed before the 1983 Probate Code revision. That section stated that "when an uncertainty arises *upon the face of a will*, as to the application of any of its provisions, the testator's intention is to be ascertained *from the words of the will*, taking into view the circumstances under which it was made, *excluding such oral declarations* [of intent by the testator]." (Former § 105, italics added (Deering's Cal. Civ. Practice Codes (1983 ed.) Probate, § 105, p. 1822).) But the statute did not prevent this Court from allowing consideration of extrinsic evidence to determine whether, in fact, a will was ambiguous. (*Estate of Russell* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 200, 212-213 (*Russell*) ["In short, we hold that while section 105 delineates the manner of ascertaining the testator's intention 'when an uncertainty arises upon the face of a will,' it cannot always be determined whether the will is ambiguous or not until the surrounding circumstances are first considered"].)

In any case, today's Probate Code contains no such limitations. Section 105 was repealed in 1983. (Stats. 1983, ch. 842, § 18, operative Jan. 1, 1985; see Tentative Recommendation Relating to Wills and Intestate Succession, 16 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (1982) p. 2503.) Its counterpart today is section 21102. It states that "[t]he intention of the transferor as expressed in the instrument controls the legal effect of the

dispositions made in the instrument" (subd. (a)), but it introduces various rules of construction that apply "where the intention of the transferor is not indicated by the instrument" (subd. (b)), and it further states that "[n]othing in this section limits the use of extrinsic evidence, to the extent otherwise authorized by law, to determine the intention of the transferor" (subd. (c)).

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