No. S199435

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF DUKE

ROBERT B. RADIN and SEYMOUR RADIN,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

VS.

JEWISH NATIONAL FUND and CITY OF HOPE,

Defendants and Appellants.

California Court of Appeal, Second District, Division Four 2nd Civil No. B227954

Appeal from the Los Angeles Superior Court

Hon. Mitchell Beckloff, Superior Court Case No. BP108971

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SACKS, GLAZIER, FRANKLIN & LODISE LLEUPREME COURT
Margaret Lodise [SBN 137560]

350 South Grand Avenue, Suite 3500 Los Angeles, California 90071

Telephone: (213) 617-2950

Facsimile: (213) 617-9350

FEB - 3 2012

Frederick K. Ohlnich Clark

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

REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

I. THIS CASE DOES NOT MEET THE STANDARD FOR REVIEW IN RULE OF COURT 8.500

Rule of Court 8.500(b) sets forth the grounds for review:

The Supreme Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision:

- (1) When necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law;
- (2) When the Court of Appeal lacked jurisdiction;
- (3) When the Court of Appeal decision lacked the concurrence of

sufficient qualified justices; or

(4) For the purpose of transferring the matter to the Court of Appeal for such proceedings as the Supreme Court may order.

None of these factors is present here. As discussed in detail below, there is no division of authority on these issues in the Courts of Appeal and Petitioners have failed to demonstrate that this case raises an important question of law that this Court must settle. Indeed, what Petitioners request is that this Court unsettle the law by overturning a prior Supreme Court ruling that has stood for almost 50 years; and in connection with a case that is of no concern to anyone other than them. In this case, unfortunately for Petitioners, the Decedent's last Will is clear and does not provide for Petitioners (or anyone else) under the circumstances of Decedent outliving his wife. Petitioners ignore the simple fact that Decedent had many years to change his last Will to make clear his intent and chose not to do so.

Accordingly, under California law, the rules of intestate succession apply, and Decedent's heirs receive his estate.

Additionally, as made clear by Petitioners' own Petition, this is a rare case, and not one that creates a clear need for a change in the law. Since *Estate of Barnes*, *supra* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 580, it appears that no other cases have raised this precise issue, although the recent *Estate of Dye* (2001) 92

Cal. App.4th 966 case is similar in nature. Even the non-California cases Petitioners cite for the supposed trend toward allowing informalities in the interpretation of wills involve a mere handful of decisions throughout the country. This is a classic case where "bad facts" would lead this Court to make "bad law." As discussed below, courts are reluctant to change the law to address individual cases where the law, as a whole, is sound. The sweeping changes proposed by Petitioners should not be based upon such limited situations. The Petition should be summarily rejected.

II. THERE ARE SUBSTANTIAL IMPEDIMENTS TO ADOPTION OF THE RULE REQUESTED BY PETITIONERS

Petitioners suggest that this Court need merely issue an opinion overruling *Barnes* and the law allowing reformation of wills will spring into being. Under Petitioners' theory, only *Barnes* prevents extrinsic evidence being admitted and reformation of wills being permitted. Petitioners apparently base this determination on their reading of the legislative changes to Probate Code §§ 6111.5 and the existence of 21102.¹

Petitioners misconstrue the intent and the extent of the changes to 6111.5 and 21102. The legislative record concerning 6111.5 makes clear

All subsequent references unless otherwise indicated are to the Probate Code.

that the legislature and the commentators sought to retain the case law under *Estate of Russell* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 200, allowing introduction of extrinsic evidence to explain a latent ambiguity, not to rewrite unambiguous wills. *Estate of Russell* also contains extensive discussion of the rules regarding allowance of extrinsic evidence to explain ambiguities. There is no suggestion in the legislative history of 6111.5 that the drafters would have gone the further step of suggesting that extrinsic evidence should be introduced even where there is no latent or patent ambiguity.

The resulting statute is clear. It reads "[e]xtrinsic evidence is admissible to determine whether a document constitutes a will pursuant to Section 6110 or 6111, or to determine the meaning of a will or a portion of a will *if the meaning is unclear*." (Emphasis added). Thus, 6111.5, rather than advocating the wholesale allowance of extrinsic evidence, allows it to determine if a document is a will, but only allows extrinsic evidence for interpretation of the meaning of the will if the meaning is unclear.

Certainly, this statute does not assist Petitioners' case that extrinsic evidence should be allowed in all cases no matter whether language is clear or not.

Section 21102 is similarly unhelpful to Petitioners. As explained below, the Law Revision Comments to that section refer to the extensive

history of interpretation of ambiguities, and the statute specifically states that it does not affect any other law regarding reformation. Thus, 21102 hardly paves the road for will reformation now.

Implementation of the extrinsic evidence rule and will reformation that Petitioners seek would, therefore, require that this Court overturn not merely *Barnes*, which stands not for the proposition that extrinsic evidence cannot be admitted where there is no ambiguity, but also *Estate of Russell* and every other case in which this Court or the lower courts have held that will interpretation is based on the testator's intent as expressed in the document subject only to extrinsic evidence to explain any apparent ambiguity.

Given the limited facts and procedural posture of this case,

Petitioners' request would also necessitate this Court writing implementing
language as to the evidentiary standards to be applied when considering the
admission of extrinsic evidence. For instance, would extrinsic evidence in
the case of an ambiguity still be subject to a preponderance of the evidence
standard and only evidence which is not explaining an ambiguity subject to
the proposed clear and convincing standard? Would evidence still need to
apply only to the circumstances surrounding the execution of the will, as is
the current rule in California under statute and case law, or would the

7

2448\01\00056356.WPD v3

extrinsic evidence be allowed (as Petitioners would need in this case) to extend for decades beyond the execution of the document?

It is clear that what Petitioners request of this Court is not simply overruling *Barnes*. For this and the multitude of other reasons identified in this Answer, this Court should decline to undertake such an endeavor.

III. NOT ONLY DOES THIS CASE NOT RAISE AN IMPORTANT ISSUE OF CALIFORNIA LAW, BUT GRANTING THE RELIEF SOUGHT BY PETITIONERS MAY NOT EVEN AID THE PETITIONERS

Petitioners, at bottom, seek this Court's approval of a law that would allow extrinsic evidence to be admitted regardless of ambiguity. Petitioners assert that "allowing extrinsic evidence would make the result in this case straightforward." (Pet. for Rev. at 28.) In fact, this is not the case -- it is not at all clear that the extrinsic evidence that Petitioners seek to admit would even be received in a trial of this matter given its remoteness in time to the will in question.

In *Barnes*, the court pointed out that there was no evidence of Mrs.

Barnes' intent *at the time she signed the will*. The same is true in this case.

There is no evidence, other than his Will, of Decedent's intentions at the time he created the Will. Thus, there is no evidence that *at the time the Will*

8

was created of what Decedent intended, nor is there any evidence of any mistake of law or fact by Decedent at that time. All Petitioners can point to is extrinsic evidence from years after the Will was signed. But the intent of the testator must be ascertained at the time that the Will was signed, not at some point far into the future. *Estate of Russell, supra,* 69 Cal.2d 200, 211-212.

Petitioners do not appear to suggest that this Court should also be changing the law as to the time when intent should be ascertained. Thus, were this Court to adopt Petitioners views, the only extrinsic evidence available would be evidence from nearly twenty years after the document was executed. Surely, the Court could not imply a gift in the Will here by looking at actions and statements twenty years into the future. Would that mean that any gift given by Decedent to any charity or any person during the intervening twenty years must be considered to show his intent to dispose of the residue of his Will? And what is next if Petitioners' view prevails -- oral wills being effective? Such a rule would not create additional certainty in the distribution of estates.

This case is similar to *Estate of Dye, supra*, which Petitioners dismiss as a case where "reformation surely would not have been granted even if available." (Pet. for Rev. at 32, fn. 12.) In *Dye*, decedent died

2448\01\00056356.WPD v3

leaving three children, two from a prior marriage who had been "adopted out" and a third adopted during his second marriage. His will provided that his estate was to be distributed to his second wife, who, unfortunately, predeceased him. Decedent's surviving third child urged the court to consider decedent's intent in that he had no relationship with the adopted out children and would not have intended them to benefit at the expense of the third child if the property could not go to his second wife. Significantly, the Court stated, "It is presumed citizens know the law, including the intestacy laws, and it is up to any person who does not want those laws applied to his or her estate to opt out by preparing a will setting forth other dispositions." *Id.* at 973 (emphasis added).

The court went on to address the fact that appellant sought to "reform" the will to conform to intentions based on extrinsic evidence. As the court set forth the problem, Appellant was "trying to establish his father's probable intention *in the event the disposition in the will failed." Id.* at 977 (emphasis in original). In concluding that reformation should not be allowed under the proposed Restatement Third §12.1 standard, the Court referred to Restatement Third, §12.1, Illustration 2 which provides as follows:

G validly executed a will that devised his estate to his sister, A. After execution, G formed an intent to alter the disposition in favor of A's daughter, X, in the mistaken belief that he could substitute his new intent by communicating it to X orally.

In explaining that reformation would not be allowed in such a case, the Restatement states that "[a]lthough a donative document exists that could be reformed by substituting "X' for "A," the remedy does not lie because G's will was not the product of mistake. The will when executed stated G's intent accurately." The *Dye* court concluded "Decedent's will said exactly what he wanted to say: Had Eleanor survived, the will would have given her everything. Upon her death, his 'mistake' if any 'was his subsequent failure to execute a codicil or a new will to carry out his new intent. .." *Id.* at 980. The circumstances here are no different and it is equally likely that reformation would be denied to Petitioners even under their proposed new law.

IV. CALIFORNIA LAW IS WELL-SETTLED AND NO IMPORTANT QUESTION OF LAW REQUIRES ITS CHANGE

A. <u>California Law Allows Appropriate Evidence to Address</u> and Explain Ambiguities

In *Barnes*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d 580, this Court properly considered and ruled regarding the use of extrinsic evidence to address ambiguities in a will. In that case, this Court found that where there was no ambiguity, either patent or latent, in the will in question, it could not "engage in conjecture as to what the testator may have intended but failed to express in order to avoid a conclusion of intestacy." *Barnes*, at 583-584. A few years later, this Court made clear that, where even a latent ambiguity could be shown, extrinsic evidence would be considered to show and even to resolve the ambiguity. *Estate of Russell*, *supra*, 69 Cal.2d 200.

California courts both before and since have operated with the view that a will is to be interpreted according to its terms and the intent expressed within the will unless there is an ambiguity. Section 21102 with regard to wills in general and section 6111.5 with regard to holographs adopt similar reasoning, focusing on the testator's intent and allowing extrinsic evidence to explain or clarify that intent. What California law has never done, and

should not do at this time, is open the floodgates to claims that unambiguous language in a will should be disregarded or rewritten where there is neither a patent nor a latent ambiguity in the will.

The touchstone of ambiguity is apparent even in the Petitioners' alleged "liberalization" of laws regarding will formalities. For instance, extrinsic evidence is allowed under §6111.5 to determine whether a document is a will and to explain provisions of the instrument that are "unclear." Similarly, while §21102 provides that "nothing in this section limits the use of extrinsic evidence, to the extent otherwise authorized by law, to determine the intent of the transferor," the comment to that section specifically refers to cases allowing extrinsic evidence to explain ambiguities and refers to Code of Civil Procedure §1856, the parole evidence rule, which allows extrinsic evidence to "explain, interpret or supplement *an expressed intention.*" West California Probate Code (2012 Edition), Section 21102, Law Revision Commission Comments, 2002 Amendment.

In their arguments below, Petitioners failed to identify any ambiguity in the Decedent's last Will and thus could not avail themselves of the clear and settled line of authority that would allow extrinsic evidence to explain an ambiguity. The *Barnes* Court addressed exactly the same problem,

2448\01\00056356.WPD v3 13

acknowledging that were there an ambiguity, it might be possible to refer to extrinsic evidence. In fact, the *Barnes* Court even considered and commented on the extrinsic evidence presented in the trial court, but pointed out that the evidence could not help the petitioner in that case as there was no ambiguity.

B. <u>Contrary to Petitioners' Argument, California Law</u> Regarding Implied Gifts is Consistent

Petitioners assert that California law regarding implied gifts is confused, conflicting and anachronistic. Their petition thus assumes that there is an "implied gift" in this case, and then leaps to the conclusion that California law is out of step with other jurisdictions. To fix this supposed "anachronism," they broadly propose that this Court should change the law to allow extrinsic evidence to establish implied gifts even where a bequest is unambiguously omitted. A careful review of the authorities shows that the "ample" support they suggest is present for such a change simply does not exist.

(1) <u>California Allows Implied Gifts in Proper</u> <u>Circumstances</u>

As detailed in Petitioners' application, the law of implied gifts exists in California and has repeatedly been applied to save a bequest that does not

otherwise appear clear in a document so long as a review of the document finds sufficient evidence for such a gift in the form of a "dominant dispositive plan." *Brock v. Hall* (1949) 33 Cal.2d 885. Of course, in this case, neither the trial nor appellate courts found an implied gift as there is no evidence within the document supporting such an implied gift.

In fact, it is unclear whether a dominant dispositive plan could be ascertained in this case even if extrinsic evidence were allowed given that the proposed evidence is so far removed from the will. What about any intervening gifts to other charities, or subsequent gifts to other charities? Would such gifts alter the "dominant plan?" The courts have long recognized that a testator's intentions may change during the course of his life and have therefore required that those intentions be demonstrated in the document at issue so as to avoid the chaos that would ensue were implied gifts to be based not upon evidence in the document but upon actions unrelated to those documents. The Appellate Court's invitation to consider whether "deeds speak louder than words" (Slip Opn. at 13) unfortunately invites this Court to establish a rule creating such chaos. This Court should decline that invitation.

(2) <u>Petitioners' Cited Cases Properly Resolved</u> Ambiguities Rather Than <u>Disguising Implied Gifs</u>

Petitioners cite to four California cases for the proposition that the courts in California feel constrained by the four corners law to find ambiguities where none exist, in reality applying extrinsic evidence to create implied gifts. The cases do not reflect the strained interpretation that Petitioners read into them. Moreover, the cases show that, where, in fact, there is an ambiguity, California courts have the ability to interpret the will according to the testator's intent.

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